# **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

### Virus Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/virusres

#### 1 Review

### Pathology of African swine fever: The role of monocyte-macrophage

### 3 Q1 J.C. Gómez-Villamandos\*, M.J. Bautista, P.J. Sánchez-Cordón, L. Carrasco

4 Department of Comparative Pathology, Veterinary Faculty, University of Córdoba-Agrifood Campus of International Excellence (ceiA3), Edificio Sanidad Animal, Campus de Rabanales, 5 14014 Córdoba, Spain

#### ARTICLE INFO

 Article history: Available online xxx

- 11 Key words:
- 12 African swine fever
- 13 Pathology
- 14 Pathogenesis
- 15 Macrophage
- 16 Cytokines

#### ABSTRACT

African swine fever (ASF) is a viral hemorrhagic disease with different clinical and lesional changes depending of virulence of strains/isolates and immunological status of pigs. In acute and subacute forms of ASF, severe vascular changes are present, with hemorrhages in different organs (mainly melena, epistaxis, erythema, renal petechiaes and diffuse hemorrhages in lymph nodes), pulmonary edema, disseminate intravascular coagulation and thrombocytopenia. Lymphopenia and monocytopenia are developed during acute and subacute ASF. Lymphopenia is associated with lymphoid depletion in primary and secondary lymphoid organs, which is caused by apoptosis. All these lesions are not related to viral replication in endothelial cells or lymphocytes. Monocytes-macrophages show viral replication and cytophatic effect, including hemadsorption. The more significant changes in these cells are increased number and secretory activation (increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines) in targets organs. Proinflammatory activation is the initial cause of clinical and lesional pictures in ASF, including fever and changes in levels of acute phase proteins. Levels of IFN- $\beta$  and - $\gamma$  are increased from initial phase of acute ASF. Anti-inflammatory response, represented by increased level of IL-10, is observed also, although in the final phase of acute ASF only.

© 2013 Published by Elsevier B.V.

#### Contents

18	1.	Introduction	)0
19	2.	Virus replication and cytopathic effect	)0
20	3.	Macrophage activation	)0
21	4.	Vascular changes	00
22		4.1. Hyperemic splenomegaly	00
23		4.2. Hemorrhage	)0
24		4.3. Thrombocytopenia	00
25		4.4. Pulmonary edema	00
26	5.	Lymphoid organs and lymphopenia	)0
27	6.	Conclusions	00
28		Acknowledgements	00
		References	00

30

31

33

34

### 1. Introduction

The course of the African swine fever (ASF) may vary depending on a number of factors, including the host, the virus, and the immunological status of the farm. In acute and subacute forms,

0168-1702/\$ - see front matter © 2013 Published by Elsevier B.V. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2013.01.017

the more significant lesions are vascular changes – and particularly bleeding – prompting a high mortality rate (Anderson, 1986; Villeda et al., 1993a, 1995). In clinical terms, acute ASF develops over a 7-day period, compared with 10–20 days for the subacute form of the disease. Chronic ASF cause clinical lesions, they are just not specific and infection is detected by serological screening for anti-ASF virus antibodies (Pan and Hess, 1984). Moderate-to-low virulence ASF virus isolates have been reported to trigger persistent viral infections (Mebus and Dardiri, 1979; McVicar, 1984), helping

43

35

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 957218162; fax: +34 957212018. *E-mail address:* jcgomez@uco.es (J.C. Gómez-Villamandos).

45

46

47

48

10

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

## **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx

the disease to persist in endemic areas; the virus may be isolated from blood and lymphoid organs over a period of several months (McVicar, 1984).

Animals with acute ASF display fever and a tendency to crowding; they also exhibit loss of appetite, inactivity, apathy and early leukopenia, induced by lymphopenia and changes in monocyte numbers (Colgrove et al., 1969; Pan and Hess, 1984). Despite the presence of bleeding and bone-marrow lesions, platelet counts are not significantly impaire (Villeda et al., 1993a).

Affected pigs show erythema (particularly affecting the skin of the ears, tail, distal extremities, chest, abdomen and perianal area), together with vascular lesions, which tend to be more apparent in white pigs. Pigs also develop cyanosis of the skin in these areas 1–2 days prior to death. Mucosal nasal discharge and nasal hemorrhage (epistaxis) may also be observed. Other symptoms include vomiting, abdominal pain, constipation, and diarrhoea, which is initially mucoid but may later become bloody (melena) (Moulton and Coggins, 1968; Mebus and Dardiri, 1979).

While clinical signs tend to be less marked in subacute ASF, vascular lesions are often more severe. The subacute form of the disease carries an additional risk: animals that recover may continue to carry the virus over a long period (McVicar, 1984). These clinical signs in acute and, especially, subacute ASF may be confused with other swine hemorrhagic diseases including classical swine fever and erysipelas.

Together with the vascular lesions observed in live animals developing acute ASF (sometimes only renal petechiae), other characteristic changes include hyperemic splenomegaly, pulmonary edema, hemorrhages and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC). The pathogenesis of these changes has been widely studied; research into the mechanisms involved in virus spread and lymphopenia has highlighted the major modulatory role played by monocytes-macrophages (m-MØ).

#### 2. Virus replication and cytopathic effect

In infected pigs, monocytes and macrophages appear to be the 78 main ASF virus target cells. Virus replication causes cell swelling 79 and rounding, together with margination of nuclear chromatin 80 (Fig. 1A-D). On semithin sections stained with toluidine blue, virus 81 replication is identified by these changes in cell and nucleus size 82 and morphology, and by the presence of intracytoplasmic juxtanu-83 clear inclusion bodies - identifiable by their pale coloring - in which 84 85 ASF virus replication is taking place. Viral infection/replication can be detected by immunohistochemical techniques (Fig. 1A and B), 86 with diffuse cytoplasmic staining and cytoplasmic inclusion body 87 with dark staining in some cells (Fig. 1B). Ultrastructural exami-88 nation reveals nuclear changes, dilated membranous structures in 89 the cytoplasm, and ASF virus replication sites; the latter are evident 90 91 as rounded organelle-free areas containing elongated membranous structures and both mature and immature viral particles. Mature 92 viral particles are seen as icosahedral structures (175-190 nm 93 in diameter) containing an electron-dense nucleoid. Mature and 94 immature viral particles are associated with ribosomes and helical 95 polyribosomes in viral replication sites. Virus particles are released 96 O2 from infected cells by budding (Fig. 1C and D) (Sierra et al., 1987; 97 Brookes et al., 1998; Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1997a,b). Virus 98 replication induces necrosis of infected cell and cytoplasmic non-99 enveloped viral particles are free and they can be observed in blood, 100 lymph and interstitial tissue. Apoptosis of porcine macrophage cul-101 tures during in vitro infection with the high- and low-virulence 102 isolates have been studied and significant proportion of the infected 103 cell populations remained non-apoptotic cell have been observed 104 105 with highly virulent strain, but not with moderately virulent strain 106 (Portugal et al., 2009).

Following oral-nasal or intramuscular infection, the virus replicates mainly in mononuclear phagocytic cells in tonsils and in mandibular and other regional lymph nodes, spreading through lymph and blood to secondary organs of replication, where it may be detected within 2–3 dpi (Colgrove et al., 1969). In these secondary organs, replication is mostly observed in macrophages, but in the middle and final phases of acute ASF (5–7 dpi), evidence of virus replication is found in non-m-MØ cells, epithelial and/or mesenchymal cells (Table 1), a phenomenon that may play a minor role in the pathogenesis of the disease.

The abundant replication and necrosis observed in macrophages in various organs leads to the presence of numerous free virions in the interstitial space (Carrasco et al., 1996b). This, together with the destruction of ASF virus target cells in these areas, probably favours the infection of other cell populations during later stages of the disease (Fernández et al., 1992; Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995c, 1999). However, the observation of virus replication in non-macrophage cells when m-MØ are still present and undergoing intense proliferation suggests the existence of a different, more complex, mechanism in the infection of these cells (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1999). This mechanism may involve the activation of m-MØ and chemical mediators secreted by them, possibly leading to the expression of an ASF virus-specific membrane receptor (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1999). This hypothesis is borne out by the fact that fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, megakaryocytes, fat-storing cells and reticular cells have little phagocytic capacity; the virus is therefore unlikely to enter these cells along with phagocytosed cell debris (Alcami et al., 1990).

Hemadsorption is a characteristic feature of ASF, first reported in vitro and subsequently used for diagnostic purposes. In cell cultures, erythrocytes appear in a crownlike arrangement surrounding infected cells. Similar findings have been reported in vivo in ASFinfected pigs (Sierra et al., 1991), where pear-shaped erythrocytes have been observed surrounding infected macrophages (Fig. 1E) and monocytes (Fig. 1F). There are close links between hemoadsorption, virus budding and the presence of viral particles adhering to erythrocytes in small invaginations of the cytoplasmatic membrane, a characteristic feature of ASF virus spread from the earliest stages of the disease.

Virus particles, but not virus replication, have been observed in lymphocytes (Carrasco et al., 1996d) and platelets, as a consequence of virus replication in megakaryocytes (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1997a). These elements act as passive vehicles for the spread of the virus throughout the body; their function is thus similar to, though less intense than, that of erythrocytes (Anderson, 1986; Sierra et al., 1991), and becomes apparent only in advanced stages of the disease.

### 3. Macrophage activation

In addition to the phenomena described above (replication, hemoadsorption and necrosis), m-MØ also undergo a number of changes which play a major role in the pathogenesis of ASF: phagocytic activation, increased numbers and secretory activation. Infected and uninfected macrophages show morphological changes indicative of phagocytic activation, characterized by increased cell size, lysosome proliferation and presence of phagocytosed cell debris.

Research suggests that despite virus replication in macrophages and their subsequent necrosis during ASF, there is an increase in macrophage numbers in all organs in which virus replication takes place, involving different populations of fixed and interstitial macrophages. This increase is associated with enhanced macrophage secretory activity and the release of cytokines, demonstrated in pigs infected with virulent ASF virus isolates using a range 156

157

158

159

160

161

162

163

164

165

166

167

168

169

107

108

109

## **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx



**Fig. 1.** Immunohistochemical detection (ABC technique) of gP55 ASF virus in Kupffer cells and interstitial macrophages (A), in a monocyte with hemoadsorption and dark brown inclusion body (arrow) and in a hepatocyte (arrowhead) (B). Ultrastructural detail of viral replication site and viral budding in an interstitial macrophage (C). Ultrastructural evidences of viral replication in Kupffer cells with slight signs of hemadsorption (arrow) and activation (arrowhead) (D). Scanning electron microscopy pictures showing hemadsorption in a Kupffer cell (E) and in a monocytes circulating in a hepatic sinusoid (F).

#### Table 1

Viral replication and infection in non-m-MØ.

Cells	Technique	Authors
Hepatocytes	TEM	Sierra et al. (1987)
Capillary endothelium (kidney, liver)	TEM	Sierra et al. (1989), Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1995a,b)
Epithelium of collector renal ducts	TEM/IHC	Fernández et al. (1992), Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1995c)
Tonsilar epithelium	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1997b)
Fibroblasts	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1995d)
Reticular cells	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1997a)
Smooth muscle cells	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1995d)
Pericytes	TEM	Carrasco et al. (1996a)
Ito cells	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1995a)
Glomerular mesangial cells	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1995c)
Megakaryocytes	TEM	Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1997a, 1998)
Neutrophils (and precursor)	TEM	Carrasco et al. (1996b)
Lymphocytes	TEM/ISH	Carrasco et al. (1996c), Ballester et al. (2010)

TEM: transmission electron microscopy, IHQ: immunohistochemical techniques ISH: in situ hybridisation.

170

171

172

173

174

175

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

190

19

192

193

194

195

196

107

105

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

## **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx

of techniques including TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 immunolabelling and in situ hybridization for the detection of IL-1. Cytokine expression has been observed in both uninfected and infected cells, demonstrating that virus replication does not inhibit secretory activity (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1999). The role of this secretory activation in the pathogenesis of ASF will be discussed in this paper.

With regard to the numerical changes undergone by m-MØ, it should be noted that research in the 80s and even into the 90s (e.g. Ramiro-lbáñez et al., 1997) pointed to the destruction of m-MØ, and subsequent immunodepression favouring the appearance of secondary infection, as a major factor in the pathogenesis of ASF. However, later studies (Sierra et al., 1989; Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995a) showed that intense m-MØ necrosis takes place only at a late stage of the disease, by which time the lesions characteristic of ASF are evident and the pathogenic mechanisms involved have already been activated. Studies on acute ASF have shown a sharp increase in macrophage numbers in target organs, linked to the arrival of the virus (e.g. at 3 dpi in the liver and 5 dpi in the kidney). Thereafter, numbers are significantly depleted at a late stage in disease due to the necrosis induced by virus replication; even then, numbers of macrophages remain higher than in healthy controls, although the marked phagocytosis taking place at this stage may lead to impaired macrophage function (Sánchez-Vizcaíno et al., 1981; Martins et al., 1988).

Subcellular findings, coupled with the negative results obtained using techniques to detect the chromatin fragmentation prompted by apoptosis, leave little doubt as to the necrosis induced by virus replication; the involvement of apoptosis in m-MØ depletion during virus infection can be ruled out (Ramiro-Ibáñez et al., 1996).

It has been suggested that secretory activation of proinflammatory cytokines m-MØ during the early stages of infection plays a key role in the pathogenesis of ASF (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995c, 1995d). This activation has been detected by ultrastructural study (Fig. 2A and B) and immunohistochemically in lymphoid organs (Salguero et al., 2002, 2005), lung (Carrasco et al., 2002), liver (Fig. 3A and B) and kidney (Fig. 3C and D). A significant increase in serum TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels has been observed from 2 dpi by us in different experiments with pigs infected with highly-virulent strains. The increase in TNF- $\alpha$ -specific mRNA is correlated with the expression of viral antigens encoding proteins p30 or p52. However, TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA decreased to baseline levels at 2 dpi, whereas viral mRNA persisted or increased until death. Similarly, the number of TNF- $\alpha$ -producing cells was always lower than that of ASF virusinfected cells. This may reflect the hightly-regulated expression of this cytokine, due to products released by neighboring cells, including IL-10, observed in our experiments, TGF- $\beta$ , and prostaglandins, capable to induce TNF- $\alpha$  production. These results contrast with those reported by Powell et al. (1996), who found that ASF virus inhibited the production of TNF- $\alpha$  in infected macrophages. The discrepancy between the findings of these studies could be due to the different ASF virus isolates tested (Gómez del Moral et al., 1999; Gil et al., 2008; Salguero et al., 2008).

Early signs of fever and the increase of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in serum levels coincide with elevated cytokine expression in lymphoid organs from 1 to 2 dpi (Salguero et al., 2002, 2005) a slight increased expression of these cytokines in the liver. These facts suggest that the onset of fever and the increase in these cytokine production in the initial stage of acute ASF is linked to the activation of various macrophage populations in the spleen and lymph nodes mainly, and of Kupffer cells secondarily, which also show expression of IL-6. In this way, increased cytokine expression would appear to depend on the virus reaching the organ in question, rather than being the result of a uniform, synchronized systemic response. On the other hand, acute-phase-protein synthesis by the liver is associated to activation of Kupffer cells (Risalde et al., 2011; Bode et al., 2012). In acute ASF, a medium increase in serum amyloid A, and slight increase C-reactive protein (classified as type 1 acute phase proteins, and predominantly induced by IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and haptoglobin (classified as type 2 acute phase proteins, and mainly induced by IL-6) have been detected, related to viral replication in Kupffer cells and activation of these cells. (Carpintero et al., 2007; Sánchez-Cordón et al., 2007).



Fig. 2. Kupffer cell (A) and a monocyte (B) with ultrastructural changes indicative of secretory activation. An apoptotic circulating lymphocyte (arrowhead) (B).

237

238

239

240

241

## ARTICLE IN PRESS

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx



Fig. 3. Immunohistochemical expression of TNF- $\alpha$  (A, C, E) (sABFA technique) and IL-1 $\alpha$  (B, D) (ABC technique) in liver (A, B), renal interstitium (C, D) and renal glomerulus, which shows mesangial proliferation (E).

256

257

While cells staining positive to the various antibodies used for cytokine detection are primarily m-MØ, positive staining has also been observed in other cell populations, including proinflammatory-cytokine-secreting stromal cells, in the final stages of ASF. These cells may modulate the clinical symptoms and lesions characteristic of the disease through the release of chemical mediators, inducing changes in non-infected neighboring cells. Virus replication or infection in non-m-MØ cells, particularly endothelial cells or lymphocytes, can be ruled out as the main cause of clinical signs and lesions in ASF, since infection or replication in these cells takes place only in the final stages of the disease (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995b, 1995d).

It should also be noted that macrophages have been observed in areas of organs where they are not normally found, such as the glomerular mesangium. Their presence may be responsible for some of the changes taking place at local level, such as mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis, a lesion characterized by the proliferation of mesangial cells. The pathogenesis of this lesion generally involves growth factors including IL-6, identified as an autocrine growth factor for mesangial cells (Rampino et al., 2011), which has been detected by the authors in the glomerular mesangium coinciding with the onset of mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis (Fig. 3E). The production of IL-6 may lie either in the mesangial cells themselves or in a small number of macrophages infiltrating this area of the kidney.

Macrophages may be responsible for the changes observed in IL-8 and IL-10 levels. IL-8 increases from 3 dpi, coinciding with slight inflammatory lesions in lungs characterized by presence of neutrophils. Increased level of IL-10 is detected in the final stages of acute ASF. The last cytokine has an inhibitory effect on the production of proinflammatory cytokines (lyer and Cheng, 2012), and could have an important role in the pathogenesis of subacute form 258

259

260

261

262

263

264

265

266

267

268

269

270

271

272

273

278

279

280

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

288

289

290

29

292

293

294

295

296

297

298

299

300

301

302

303

304

305

306

307

308

309

310

311

312

313

314

315

316

317

318

319

320

321

322

323

324

325

326

327

328

329

330

331

332

333

### **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx

of ASF or it could be a switch to determine the course of the disease.
Further studies about the regulation of inflammation (expression
of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines) in subacute
ASF should be developed.

#### 4. Vascular changes

Characteristic vascular changes during acute ASF include petechial hemorrhage, bleeding of varying intensity in gastrohepatic and renal lymph nodes, hyperemic splenomegaly, pulmonary edema and DIC. Edema and hemorrhages are more intense in subacute than acute ASF. Ascites, hydropericardium, perirenal edema and edemas of the gall bladder and bile-duct walls are also more common, and partial hyperemic splenomegaly is often observed. The kidneys display more intense bleeding (petechiae and ecchymoses) in the cortex, medulla and renal pelvis in subacute ASF than in the acute form. Bleeding may also be observed in gastrohepatic and renal lymph nodes, as well as in submandibular, retropharyngeal, mediastinal, mesenteric and inguinal lymph nodes.

#### 4.1. Hyperemic splenomegaly

The spleen is widely considered the chief target organ of ASF after the lymph nodes. The most characteristic splenic lesion in ASF is a hyperemic splenomegaly, which varies in severity depending on the virulence of the inoculated strain (Mebus and Dardiri, 1979; Carrasco et al., 1995). In acute ASF, the spleen crosses the entire abdominal cavity, from one side to the other; it is very large (up to 6 times larger than normal), with rounded edges, friable in consistency and purplish-black in color. In contrast, following infection with a moderately-virulent strain or isolate, initial hyperemic splenomegaly is progressively reversed, leaving some focal damage which eventually disappears; low-virulence strains may prompt no more than increased spleen firmness.

Like gross lesions, microscopic lesions depend on the virulence of the strain and on the effect of the virus on the abundant m-MØs in the spleen. ASF virus primarily targets splenic red pulp, the marginal zone and sheated capillaries; lesions tend to be most intense in these areas, where m-MØs are usually abundant. Acute ASF is characterized by hyperemic vascular changes, lymphoid depletion and virus replication in macrophages leading to their necrosis, while chronic ASF is more often marked by proliferative lesions.

Splenic red pulp is hyperemic, and may be competely filled by erythrocytes, platelet thrombi, fibrin networks and cell debris (Carrasco et al., 1997a), leading to structural disruption. It is in fact the structure of splenic red pulp that gives rise to the hyperemic splenomegaly characteristic of acute ASF. Red pulp comprises a mesh of fibers and smooth muscle cells surrounded by a fixed population of splenic-cord macrophages. Virus replication and cytopathic effect are observed in these macrophages, inducing loss of intercellular junctions and the progressive detachment of macrophages from smooth muscle cells. Macrophages subsequently disappear due to virus replication. Exposure of the lámina externa basal lamina of muscle cells to blood induces activation of the coagulation system, involving platelet activation and aggregation and fibrin deposition; this in turn gives rise to the accumulation of erythrocytes within splenic cords. Blood clearance, one of the main functions of the spleen, is therefore impaired, and hypoxia induces lymphocyte necrosis, thus enhancing lymphoid depletion. (Carrasco et al., 1995, 1996b, 1997a). In the subacute form of the disease, the mechanism is similar but of lower intensity thus allowing the action of those enzymes liberated after the destruction of macrophages.

#### 4.2. Hemorrhage

Hemorrhage is among the lesions most consistently reported in a range of organs in acute and subacute forms of ASF; for that reason, ASF is classified as a viral hemorrhagic disease (Anderson, 1986; Sierra et al., 1987). The vascular changes observed in subacute forms of ASF, mainly hemorrhage and edema, are more intense than those reported in acute forms of the disease. The pathogenic mechanisms giving rise to hemorrhage differ depending on the virulence of the ASF virus isolate and on the presence or absence of fixed vascular macrophages in affected organs. Hemorrhages are more common in organs not containing a fixed vascular macrophage population, particularly gastrohepatic and renal lymph nodes, but they may also occur in other organs including the intestine, the heart and the lung, although the latter does contain fixed macrophages. The final stages of the disease are marked by extensive bleeding and severe alterations to the coagulation system, with increased bleeding time, impaired blood clot retraction and decreased platelet aggregation (Nesser and Kotzé, 1987).

Endothelial damage, as cause of hemorrhages, was initially attributed to direct action of the virus on endothelial cells (Colgrove et al., 1969; Sierra et al., 1989). However, ultrastructural examination has shown that when bleeding is first observed in the lymph nodes and kidneys of pigs infected with virulent ASF strains, there is no evidence of infection or virus replication in the endothelial cells of these organs (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995a; Carrasco et al., 1996b, 1997b); virus replication in these cells can thus be ruled out as the initial cause of hemorrhage in ASF, although it may contribute to bleeding in the final stages of the disease, when replication has been observed in the capillary endothelium.

However, bleeding coincides with another phenomenon which may account for the endothelial lesions: phagocytic activaton of capillary endothelial cells, accompanied by lysosome proliferation and the presence of phagocytosed cell debris, gives rise to endothelial hypertrophy (Fig. 4) which may lead to complete occlusion of some capillary lumina, increasing intravascular pressure. Affected capillaries display a loss of endothelial cell junctions, cell debris is observed between basement membrane and endothelial cells, and there is a generalized loss of endothelium; due to endothelial disruption, cell debris and erythrocytes appearing in the interstitium give rise to hemorrhages. At the same time, this loss of endothelial cells results in exposure of the capillary basement membrane, to which activated platelets can adhere (Fig. 5). This phenomenon, coupled with the necrosis of splenic cord macrophages described earlier, prompts activation of the coagulation system, leading to the DIC characteristic of ASF (Villeda et al., 1993a,b). However, these lesions do not induce severe thrombocytopenia, probably due to the short course of the disease.

Why are not endothelial activation and hemorraghes present in all organs? The absence of a resident macrophage population in lymph nodes and renal interstitial capillaries may be a decisive factor in the phagocytic activation of endothelial cells in these vessels. Research has highlighted the absence of phagocytic activity in endothelial cells in the liver (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995c; Sánchez-Cordón et al., 2008), spleen and lung (Sierra et al., 1990; Pérez et al., 1994; Carrasco et al., 1996d) in ASF, since these organs have resident macrophage populations which clear cell debris from vascular lumina. Moreover, endothelial stimulation is not observed in lymphoid sinuses, which also have a resident macrophage population (Hoshi et al., 1988a,b). The cell debris phagocytosed by macrophages arises from the intense apoptosis and necrosis taking place in the liver, spleen and lymph nodes. These phenomena, coupled with the secretory activation of local interstitial macrophages (Fig. 4), may help to trigger the phagocytic activation of endothelial cells: macrophage numbers increase in the early and middle stages of the disease, thereafter declining in the late stages due to the 334 335 336

337

338

330

340

341

400

401

402

403

404 405

406

407

408

409

411

412

413

414

416

417

418

419

420

421

I.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx



Fig. 4. Phagocytic activation of endothelium in an interstitial renal capillary (square), associated to a interstitial edema and with close relationship with a macrophage showing cellular changes indicative of secretory activation (M). Fibrin network (arrows).

Please cite this article in press as: Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., et al., Pathology of African swine fever: The role of monocyte-macrophage. Virus Res.

direct action of the virus; they express proinflammatory cytokines (TNF-a and IL1a) which are evidence of secretory activation. This hypothesis is borne out by changes reported in classical swine fever (CSF), in which cell debris is also transported in the bloodstream but there is not a intense proinflammatory activation of macrophages near capillaries (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 2000).

The endothelial lesions described above are the morphological manifestation of blood biochemistry values indicative of endothelial dysfunction reported in acute ASF, including elevated Factor VIII levels (Edwards et al., 1984) and a fall in prostacycline levels (Anderson et al., 1987). Endothelial cell activation may be the 410 cause of the increased tissue plasminogen activator levels detected in pigs infected with virulent ASF strains from 4 to 5 dpi (Villeda et al., 1995). This increase suggests over activation of the fibrinolytic system, which – together with the vasodilator effects of PGE<sub>2</sub> (Anderson et al., 1987) - may exacerbate the bleeding prompted by endothelial lesions. 415

Research into bleeding in pigs infected with moderatelyvirulent strains has shown that renal hemorrhage is more intense (petechiae and ecchymoses) and more extensive (cortex, medulla and pelvis) than in acute forms, but is not linked to the endothelial lesions reported in acute ASF (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995d). Morphological and ultrastructural examinations aimed



Fig. 5. Platelets with different degranulation stages (arrows) attached to endothelium in an interstitial renal capillary.

(2013), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2013.01.017

at ascertaining the origin of hemorrhage in subacute ASF suggest that the marked bleeding reported may be linked to intense vasodilation and increased vascular permeability, leading to severe interstitial edema and hemorrhage due to erythrodiapedesis (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995d). We have measured area of capillaries and we have detected a severe increase (vasodilatation). Moreover, numerous leukocytes and erythrocytes adhered to endothelium and crossing wall vascular by diapedesis, together intense perivascular edema (increased vascular permeability), have been observed. Mononuclear cell diapedesis gives rise to an intense perivascular infiltrate composed of macrophages, lymphocytes and plasma cells. The transmigration of cells from capillaries may be mediated by immune mechanisms, given the lymphoplasmacytic nature of the cell infiltrate and the existence of mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis, a lesion associated with the deposition of immunoglobulins and complement C3 (Hervás et al., 1996) and the elevated immunoglobulin levels recorded in pigs inoculated with attenuated ASF strains (Sánchez-Vizcaíno et al., 1981).

#### 4.3. Thrombocytopenia

The presence of thombocytopenia appears to vary depending on the virulence of the ASF strain: following the experimental inoculation of a virulent strain (Villeda et al., 1993a,b) we have observed slight thrombocytopenia only at a late stage, once hemorrhage had been detected, and in many cases following the worsening and sudden death of affected pigs, although severe bone-marrow lesions and virus replication in stromal and hematopoietic cells are observed previously (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1997a).

In subacute ASF, by contrast, an intense though transitory thrombocytopenia is observed in the early and middle stages of the disease (Villeda et al., 1993a,b), and may play a major role in the development of hemorrhage. It appears to arise as the result of ultrastructural changes in megakaryocytes, and particularly of the appearance of denuded megakaryocytes (apoptotic megakaryocvtes).

Some soluble chemical mediators are potent modulators of megakaryocyte maturation (Hoffmann, 1989), and may play a major role in the appearance of denuded megakaryocytes in ASF This hypothesis is supported by the fact that replication is observed in bone-marrow macrophages until 7 dpi and that there is an increase in plasma monokine levels (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1998). These monokines are able to trigger cytokine secretion by

422

423

424

425

426

449

450

451

452

453

454

455

456

457

458

459

460

461

G Model VIRUS 95924 1-10

8

463

464

465

466

467

468

469

470

471

472

473

474

475

476

477

478

479

480

481

497

499

50

502

503

504

505

506

507

508

509

510

511

512

513

514

515

516

517

518

519

520

52

522

523

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xx

stromal cells and T lymphocytes; the cytokines in turn regulate megakaryocyte maturation (Bagby, 1987; Hoffmann, 1989).

Peripheral platelet consumption observed from 3 dpi (Villeda et al., 1993a,b; Carrasco et al., 1996d) in subacute ASF may be correlated to the expression and secretion of procoagulant factors by activated macrophages (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1997a; Bautista et al., 1998). Megakaryocytes may react to early peripheral platelet consumption by producing abundant platelets; this would prevent thrombocytopenia at 3-5 dpi, while the resulting megakaryocyte "fatigue" would give rise to the appearance of numerous denuded megakaryocytes and thence to the intense thombocytopenia observed from 6 dpi in pigs inoculated with a moderately-virulent ASF strain (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1998).

#### 4.4. Pulmonary edema

Severe pulmonary edema, giving rise to respiratory changes, is a characteristic finding in pigs infected with highly-virulent ASF strains; affected animals die in shock, and foam is generally observed in the mouth and nose.

The mononuclear phagocyte system of the lung in pigs comprises interstitial macrophages, free rounded alveolar macrophages 482 (AMs) and spindle-shaped pulmonary intravascular macrophages 483 (PIMs) located in pulmonary capillaries adjacent to the endothe-484 lium. This latter cell population is found only in certain species, 485 notably pigs, cows and humans. Research has highlighted an 486 increase in AM and particularly PIM numbers from the early stages 487 of ASF, probably induced by chemical mediators and circulating 488 cell debris from various organs. Although ASF virus replication 489 has been reported in various lung macrophage populations. PIMs 490 appear to be the main ASF virus target cell in the lung; they tend 491 to be enlarged and display secretory activation. (Carrasco et al., 492 1996a). The appearance of the most severe vascular changes coin-493 cides with intense proinflammatory cytokine secretion by PIMs, 494 many of which exhibit signs of viral infection. These cytokines are 495 known to develop chemotactic activity and to be involved in mech-496 anisms leading to increased endothelial permeability (Carrasco 498 et al., 2002). The fact that increased numbers and secretory activation of macrophages appears before the virus is in the lung at 3 dpi suggests that these changes are initially induced by circu-500 lating chemical mediators released into the blood from primary replication organs.

At the same time, cell debris induces marked phagocytic activation of PIMs, which are seen as larger, and rounded rather than spindle-shaped; they also display proliferation of lysosome structures and phagocytosis of cell debris. This in turn leads to increased intravascular pressure, prompting a number of vascular changes, including interstitial edema; separation of the alveolar epithelium from the capillary endothelium then gives rise to alveolar edema (Carrasco et al., 1996a).

#### 5. Lymphoid organs and lymphopenia

Acute ASF is characterized by early leukopenia due mainly to a decline in lymphocyte and monocyte numbers. Lymphopenia coincides with marked lymphoid depletion - considered a characteristic feature of ASF – affecting not only the spleen and lymph nodes but also a number of lymphoid organs displaying no characteristic ASF lesions; in the thymus, for example, lymphoid depletion gives rise to a slight "starry sky" pattern (Salguero et al., 2004). We have measured the level of chemical mediator released by lymphocytes by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in serum of pigs with acute ASF. IL-2 showed increased level only at 4 dpi suggesting a slight and insufficient type 1 immune response against ASFv (Boyman and Sprent, 2012). However, IFN-γ showed the level

increased from the 2 and 4 dpi. Similar results in IFN- $\beta$  and - $\gamma$ have been recently published by Karalyan et al. (2012) associated to atypical lymphocytes, which could be one cause of the changes observed in the lymphocytes during acute ASF, including proliferation of these cells and apoptosis by lytic activity of NK cells.

Using a range of techniques, including the TUNEL method, immunolabeling of caspase and transmission electron microscopy lymphoid depletion and the death of infiltrated lymphocytes have been attributed to massive apoptosis (Gómez-Villamandos et al., 1995b, 1997b; Carrasco et al., 1997a,b; Salguero et al., 2004; Fernández de Marco et al., 2007; Sánchez-Cordón et al., 2008).

A number of mechanisms have been put forward to account for the programmed cell death observed among lymphocytes in viral diseases, a phenomenon which may be directly or indirectly linked to infection of these cells. Although ASF virus may infect lymphocytes, virus replication has not been observed in these cells, and may thus be ruled out as a possible cause of lymphocyte apoptosis (Carrasco et al., 1996c). It has been suggested that activated m-MØ and/or macrophages containing virus replication sites may synthesize and secrete monokines, which trigger lymphocyte apoptosis (Salguero et al., 2005).

Lymphopenia would be aggravated in the final stages of the disease by the destruction of lymphoid structures resulting from hypoxia induced by vascular damage and DIC.

#### 6. Conclusions

Data reported for the various studies show that the virus replication in m-MØ and secretory activation of these cells are the modulator element if the pathogenesis of the ASF. Thus, the phenomena of hemadsorption in vivo around m-MØ with viral replication are responsible for organic spread by virusassociated to erythrocytes. Replication and necrosis of splenic cords macrophages are the cause of the hyperemic splenomegaly. The secretory activation of m-MØ (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1b, IL-6, IL-8) has a pro-inflammatory, pro-coagulant and pro-apoptotic profile, leads to pulmonary edema, hemorrhage (by phagocytic activation of endothelial cells) and lymphoid depletion (by apoptosis of lymphocytes) that characterize the disease. The direct action of the virus on other cell populations is secondary in the pathogenesis of the disease.

In animals with subacute ASF, the activation profile of these cells is different, with changes indicative of anti-inflammatory activity (IL-10). These changes are conjugated with immunologic phenomena, causing the clinic and lesions of the subacute form of the disease, with intense edema and haemorrhages (by vasodilatation and increased permeability) and transient thrombocytopenia, in which peripheral consumption of platelets is the first step.

Future studies about this reaction of the macrophage to different virulence isolates and the elucidation of the regulatory mechanism of the immune response during chronic ASF, could shed light on this devastating disease.

#### Uncited references 03 574 Gómez-Villamandos et al. (1996) and McVicar et al. (1981).

#### Acknowledgements

This paper is dedicated to Prof. A. Jover (he had the idea and initial financing) and Prof. M.A. Sierra (he teaches us to be veterinary pathologists every day) as well as to all researchers who have worked or collaborated with our team for 30 years studying the ASF. Thanks to all.

524

525

526

527

528

520

530

531

548

549

545

546

547

558

559

564

565

566

567

568

569

571

572

573

575

576 577

579 580 581

578

#### J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx

#### References 582

583

584

586

587

588

589

590

591

592

593

594

595

596

597

598

599

600

601

602

603

604

605

606

607

608

609

610

611

612

613

614

615

616

617

618

619

620

621

622

623

624

625

626

627

628

629

630

631

632

633

634

635

636

637

638

639

640

641

642

643

644

645

646

647

648

649

650

651

652

653

654

655

656

657

658

659

660

661

662

663

664

665

666

- Alcami, A., Carrascosa, A.L., Viñuela, E., 1990. Interaction of African swine fever virus with macrophages. Virus Research 17, 93-104.
- 585 **Q4** Anderson, E.C., 1986. African swine fever: current concepts on its pathogenesis and immunology. Rev. Sci. Off. Int. Epiz. 5 (2), 477-486.
  - Anderson, E.C., Williams, S.M., Fisher-Hoch, S.P., Wilkinson, P.J., 1987. Arachidonic acid metabolites in the pathophysiology of thrombocytopenia and haemorrhage in acute African swine fever. Research in Veterinary Science 42, 387-394.
  - Bagby, G.C., 1987. Production of multilineage growth factors by hematopoietic stromal cells: an intercellular regulatory network involving mononuclear phagocytes and interleukin-1. Blood Cells 13, 147-159.
  - Ballester, M., Galindo-Cardiel, I., Gallardo, C., Argilaguet, J.M., Segalés, J., Rodríguez, J.M., Rodríguez, F., 2010. Intranuclear detection of African swine fever virus DNA in several cell types from formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tissues using a new in situ hybridisation protocol. Journal of Virological Methods 168, 38-43.
  - Bautista, M.J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Carrasco, L., Ruiz-Villamor, E., Salguero, F.J., Sierra, M.A., 1998. Ultrastructural pathology of the bone marrow in pigs inoculated with a moderately virulent strain (DR'78) of African swine fever virus. Histology and Histopathology 13, 713-720.
  - Bode, J.G., Albrecht, U., Häussinger, D., Heinrich, P.C., Schaper, F., 2012. Hepatic acute phase proteins-regulation by IL-6- and IL-1-type cytokines involving STAT3 and its crosstalk with NF-KB-dependent signaling. European Journal of Cell Biology 91.496-505.
  - Boyman, O., Sprent, J., 2012. The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system. Nature Reviews Immunology 12, 180-190.
  - Brookes, S.M., Dixon, L.K., Parkhouse, M.E., 1998. Intracellular virus DNA distribution and the acquisition of the nucleoprotein core during African swine fever virus particle assembly: ultrastructural in situ hybridisation and DNase-gold labelling. Virology 224, 84-96.
  - Carpintero, R., Alonso, C., Piñeiro, M., Iturralde, M., Andrés, M., Le Potier, M.F., Madec, F., Alava, M.A., Piñeiro, A., Lampreave, F., 2007. Pig major acute-phase protein and apolipoprotein A-I. responses correlate with the clinical course of experimentally induced African swine fever and Aujeszky's disease. Veterinary Research 38.741-753
  - Carrasco, L., Bautista, M.J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Martín de las Mulas, J., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1997a. Development of microscopic lesions in splenic cords of pigs infected with African swine fever virus. Veterinary Research 28, 93-99.
  - Carrasco, L., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Martín de las Mulas, J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Sierra, M.A., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., 1997b. Ultrastructural changes related to lymph node haemorrhages in acute African swine fever. Research in Veterinary Science 62, 199-204.
  - Carrasco, L., Bautista, M.J., Martín de las Muías, J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Espinosa de los Monteros, A., Sierra, M.A., 1995. Description of a new population of fixed macrophages in the splenic cords of pigs. Journal of Anatomy 187, 395-402.
  - Carrasco, L., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Bautista, M.J., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1996a. The pathogenic role of pulmonary intravascular macrophages in acute African swine fever. Research in Veterinary Science 61, 193-198.
  - Carrasco, L., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Martín de las Muías, J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Pérez, I., Wilkinson, P.I., Sierra, M.A., 1996b, Apoptosis in lymph nodes in acute African swine fever, Journal of Comparative Pathology 115, 415–428.
  - Carrasco, L., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Martín de las Mulas, J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Hervás, J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1996c. Virus association with lymphocytes in acute African swine fever. Veterinary Research 27, 305–312.
  - Carrasco, L., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Bautista, M.J., Martín de las Mulas, J., Villeda, C.I., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1996d. In vivo replication of African swine fever virus (Malawi '83) in neutrophils. Veterinary Research 27, 55–62.
  - Carrasco, L., Núñez, A., Salguero, F.J., Díaz San Segundo, F., Sánchez-Cordón, P., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Sierra, M.A., 2002. African swine fever: expression of interleukin-1 alpha and tumour necrosis factor-alpha by pulmonary intravascular macrophages. Journal of Comparative Pathology 126, 194-201.
  - Colgrove, G.S., Haelterman, E.D., Coggins, L., 1969. Pathogenesis of African swine fever in young pigs. American Journal of Veterinary Research 30, 1343-1359.
  - Edwards, J.F., Dodds, W.J., Slauson, D.O., 1984. Coagulation changes in African swine fever virus infection. American Journal of Veterinary Research 45, 2414-2420.
  - Fernández, A., Pérez, J., Carrasco, L., Sierra, M.A., Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J.M., Jover, A., 1992. Detection of African swine fever viral antigens in paraffin-embedded tissues by use of immunohistologic methods and polyclonal antibodies. American Journal of Veterinary Research 53, 1462-1467.
  - Fernández de Marco, M., Salguero, F.J., Bautista, M.J., Núñez, A., Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., 2007. An immunohistochemical study of the tonsils in pigs with acute African swine fever virus infection. Research in Veterinary Science 83, 198-203.
  - Gil, S., Sepúlveda, N., Albina, E., Leitão, A., Martins, C., 2008. The low-virulent African swine fever virus (ASFV/NH/P68) induces enhanced expression and production of relevant regulatory cytokines (IFNalpha, TNFalpha and IL12p40) on porcine macrophages in comparison to the highly virulent ASFV/L60. Archives of Virology 153, 1845-1854
  - Gómez del Moral, M., Ortuño, E., Fernández-Zapatero, P., Alonso, F., Alonso, C., Ezquerra, A., Domínguez, J., 1999. African Swine Fever Virus infection induces tumor necrosis factor alpha production: implications in pathogenesis. Journal of Virology 73, 2173-2180.
  - Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Bautista, M.J., Carrasco, L., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Hervás, J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1998. Thrombocytopenia associated with

apoptotic megakaryocytes in a viral haemorragic síndrome induced by a moderately virulent strain of African swine fever virus. Journal of Comparative Pathology 118, 1-13.

- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Carrasco, L., Bautista, M.J., Sierra, M.A., 1999. Pathogenesis of African swine fever. The role of monokines. Recent Research Developments in Virology 1, 7-17.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Bautista, M.J., Carrasco, L., Caballero, M.J., Hervás, J., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1997a. African swine fever virus infection of bone marrow: lesions and pathogenesis. Veterinary Pathology 34, 97-107.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Hervás, J., Moreno, C., Carrasco, L., Bautista, M.J., Caballero, M.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1997b. Subcellular changes in the tonsisls of pigs inoculated with acute African swine fever virus. Veterinary Research 28, 179-189.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Bautista, M.J., Hervás, J., Carrasco, L., Chacón, M., De Lara, F., Pérez, J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1996. Subcellular changes in platelets in acute subacute african swine fever. Journal of Comparative Pathology 115, 327-341.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Hervás, J., Méndez, A., Carrasco, L., Martín de las Mulas, J., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1995a. Ultrastructural study of the renal tubular system in acute experimental African swine fever: virus replication in glomerular mesangial cells and in the collecting ducts. Archives of Virology 140, 581-589.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Hervás, J., Méndez, A., Carrasco, L., Martín de las Mulas, J., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1995b. Experimental African swine fever: apoptosis of lymphocytes and virus replication in other cells. Journal of General Virology 76, 2399-2405.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Hervás, J., Méndez, A., Carrasco, L., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1995c. A. pathological study of the perisinusoidal unit of the liver in acute African swine fever. Research in Veterinary Science 59, 146-151.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Hervás, J., Méndez, A., Carrasco, L., Villeda, C.J., Wilkinson, P.J., Sierra, M.A., 1995d. Pathological changes of renal interstitial capillaries in pigs inoculated with two different strains of African swine fever virus. Journal of Comparative Pathology 112, 283-298.
- Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Ruiz-Villamor, E., Bautista, M.J., Quezada, M., Sánchez, C.P., Salguero, F.J., Sierra, M.A., 2000. Pathogenesis of classical swine fever: renal haemorrhages and erythrodiapedesis. Journal of Comparative Pathology 123, 47-54
- Hervás, J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Méndez, A., Carrasco, L., Sierra, M.A., 1996. The lesional changes and pathogenesis in the kidney in African swine fever. Veterinary Research Communications 20, 285–299.

Hoffmann, R., 1989, Regulation of megakaryocytopoiesis, Blood 74, 1196-1212. Hoshi, N., Hashimoto, Y., Kitagawa, H., Kon, Y., Kudo, N., 1988a. Fine structures of the medulla-like tissues and the lymph sinuses in the lymph nodes of pig. Japanese

- Journal of Veterinary Research 50, 83-92. Hoshi, N., Hashimoto, Y., Kitagawa, H., Kon, Y., Kudo, N., 1988b. A. scanning electron microscopic study on the architecture of lymph vessels and intranodal lymph pathways of lymph nodes in pigs. Japanese Journal of Veterinary Research 36, 1-14.
- Iver SS Cheng G 2012 Role of interleukin 10 transcriptional regulation in inflammation and autoimmune disease. Critical Reviews in Immunology 32, 23 - 63
- Karalyan 7 Zakaryan H Sargsyan Kh Voskanyan H Arzumanyan H Ayagyan H Karalova, E., 2012. Interferon status and white blood cells during infection with African swine fever virus in vivo. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 145.551-555.
- Martins, C., Mebus, C., Scholl, T., Lawman, M., Lunney, J., 1988. Virus-Specific CTL in SLA-inbred swine recovered from experimental African swine fever virus (ASFV) Q5 infection. Annals of the New York Academy.
- McVicar, I.W., 1984, Ouantitative aspects of the transmission of African swine fever. American Journal of Veterinary Research 45, 1535-1541.
- McVicar, J.W., Mebus, C.A., Becker, H.N., Belden, A.C., Gibbs, E.P.J., 1981. Induced African swine fever in feral pigs. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 179, 441–446.
- Mebus, C.A., Dardiri, A.H., 1979. Additional characteristics of disease caused by the African swine fever viruses isolated from Brazil and the Dominican Republic. In: Proc. Annu. Meet. U. Anim. Health Assoc., vol. 83, pp. 227-239.
- Moulton, J., Coggins, L., 1968. Comparison of lesions in acute and chronic African swine fever. Cornell Veterinarian 58, 364-387.
- Nesser, J.A., Kotzé, C., 1987. African swine fever. II. Functional disturbances of thrombocytes in pigs infected with virulent haemadsorbing and non-haemadsorbing virus isolates. Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research 54, 147-155.
- Pan, I.C., Hess, W.R., 1984. Virulence in African swine fever: Its measurement and implications. American Journal of Veterinary Research 45, 361-366.
- Pérez, J., Rodríguez, F., Fernández, A., Martin de las Muías, J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Sierra, M.A., 1994. Detection of African swine fever virus protein VP73 in tissues of experimentally and naturally infected pigs. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 6, 360-365.
- Portugal, R., Leitão, A., Martins, C., 2009. Apoptosis in porcine macrophages infected in vitro with African swine fever virus (ASFV) strains with different virulence. Archives of Virology 154, 1441-1450.
- Powell, P.P., Dixon, L.K., Parkhouse, R.M.E., 1996. An IkB homolog encoded by African swine fever virus provides a novel mechanisms for downregulation of proinflammatory cytokine responses in host macrophages. Journal of Virology 70, 8527-8533
- Ramiro-Ibáñez, F., Ortega, A., Brun, A., Ruiz-Gonzalvo, F., Escribano, J.M., Alonso, C., 1996. Apoptosis: a mechanism of cell killing and lymphoid organ impairment

746

747

748

749

750

751

752

725

726

9

667

668

669

670

671

672

673

#### G Model VIRUS 95924 1–10

753

754

755

756

757

758

759

760

761

762

763

764

765

766

767

768

769

770

771

772

773

774

775

776

777

778

779

780

781

782

783

784

# ARTICLE IN PRESS

J.C. Gómez-Villamandos et al. / Virus Research xxx (2013) xxx-xxx

during acute African swine fever virus infection. Journal of General Virology 77, 2209–2219.

- Ramiro-Ibáñez, F., Ortega, A., Ruiz-Gonzalvo, F., Escribano, J.M., Alonso, C., 1997. Modulation of immune cell populations and activation markers in the pathogenesis of African swine fever virus infection. Virus Research 47, 31–40.
- Rampino, T., Gregorini, M., Bedino, G., Piotti, G., Gabanti, E., Ibatici, A., Sessarego, N., Piacenza, C., Balenzano, C.T., Esposito, P., Bosio, F., Soccio, G., Frassoni, F., Dal Canton, A., 2011. Mesenchymal stromal cells improve renal injury in anti-Thy 1 nephritis by modulating inflammatory cytokines and scatter factors. Clinical Science 120, 25–36.
- Risalde, M.A., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Pedrera, M., Molina, V., Cerón, J.J., Martínez-Subiela, S., Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., 2011. Hepatic immune response in calves during acute subclinical infection with bovine viral diarrhoea virus type 1. Veterinary Journal 190, 110–116.
- Salguero, F.J., Gil, S., Revilla, Y., Gallardo, C., Arias, M., Martins, C., 2008. Cytokine mRNA expression and pathological findings in pigs inoculated with African swine fever virus (E–70) deleted on A238L. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 124, 107–119.
- Salguero, F.J., Ruiz-Villamor, E., Bautista, M.J., Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., Carrasco, L., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., 2002. Changes in macrophages in spleen and lymph nodes during acute African swine fever: expression of cytokines. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 90, 11–22.
- Salguero, F.J., Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., Núñez, A., Fernández de Marco, M., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., 2005. Proinflammatory cytokines induce lymphocyte apoptosis in acute African swine fever infection. Journal of Comparative Pathology 132, 289–302.
- Salguero, F.J., Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., Sierra, M.A., Jover, A., Núñez, A., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., 2004. Apoptosis of thymocytes in experimental African swine fever virus infection. Histology and Histopathology 19, 77–84.
- Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., Cerón, J.J., Núñez, A., Martínez-Subiela, S., Pedrera, M., Romero-Trevejo, J.L., Garrido, M.R., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., 2007. Serum concentrations of C.-reactive protein, serum amyloid A., and haptoglobin in pigs inoculated

with African swine fever or classical swine fever viruses. American Journal of Veterinary Research 68, 772–777.

- Sánchez-Cordón, P.J., Romero-Trevejo, J.L., Pedrera, M., Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J.M., Bautista, M.J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., 2008. Role of hepatic macrophages during the viral haemorrhagic fever induced by African swine fever virus. Histology and Histopathology 23, 683–691.
- Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J.M., Slauson, D.O., Ruiz-Gonzalvo, F., Valero, F., 1981. Lymphocyte lunction and cell-mediated immunity in pigs with experimentally induced African swine fever. American Journal of Veterinary Research 42, 1335–1341.
- Sierra, M.A., Bernabé, A., Mozos, E., Méndez, A., Jover, A., 1987. Ultrastructure of the liver in pigs with experimental African swine fever. Veterinary Pathology 24, 460–462.
- Sierra, M.A., Carrasco, L., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Martín de las Muías, J., Méndez, A., Jover, A., 1990. Pulmonary intravascular macrophages in pigs inoculated with African swine fever virus of differing virulence. Journal of Comparative Pathology 102, 323–334.
- Sierra, M.A., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Carrasco, L., Fernández, A., Mozos, E., 1991. In vivo study of the haemadsorption reaction in African swine fever virus infected cells. Veterinary Pathology 28, 178–181.
- Sierra, M.A., Quezada, M., Fernández, A., Carrasco, L., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Martin de las Muías, J., Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J.M., 1989. Experimental African swine fever: evidence of the virus in interstitial tissues of the kidney. Veterinary Pathology 26, 173–176.
- Villeda, C.J., Gómez-Villamandos, J.C., Williams, S.M., Hervás, J., Wilkinson, P.J., Viñuela, E., 1995. The role of fibrinolysis in the pathogenesis of the haemorrhagic syndrome produced by virulent isolates of African swine fever virus. Thrombosis and Haemostasis 73, 112–117.
- Villeda, C.J., Williams, S.M., Wilkinson, P.J., Viñuela, E., 1993a. Haemostatic abnormalities in African swine fever. A comparison of two virus strains of different virulence (Dominican Republic 78 and Malta 78. Archives of Virology 130, 71–83.
- Villeda, C.J., Williams, S.M., Wilkinson, P.J., Viñuela, E., 1993b. Consumption coagulopathy associated with shock in acute African swine fever. Archives of Virology 133, 467–475.